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Bulkeleys to Hutchinsons 
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July 2011 
 
There are 11 generations between Edward Bulkeley and Olive Irby and the children of John 
Hutchinson and Anne Donald in the Hutchinson line. There are ten in the Donald line. As a 
result John and Anne are 8th and 9th cousins and their children are their own distant 
aunts/uncles/nieces/nephews. This is the second shortest known link between the Hutchinson and 
Donald family. The Bulkeley family is also (luckily) one most distinguished, with ancestors 
named Venable, Grosvenor, Mainwaring, Neville, La Zouche and English, French, and Scottish 
kings. A book The Bulkeley Family by F. W. Chapman is digitized as: 
http://www.archive.org/stream/bulkeleyfamilyor00chap/bulkeleyfamilyor00chap_djvu.txt 

 

 
 
 

Where do these folks come from? 
 

Edward Bulkeley and Olive Irby lived in Odell, Belfordshire, England and all but one of their 
children were born there. Odell is a village and civil parish in the north of the county of 
Bedfordshire in England that lies to the north-west of the county town of Bedford, near the 
villages of Harrold, Felmersham, Sharnbrook, and Carlton. 
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In 1633 Martha Bulkeley immigrated to Charleston, Massachusetts and in 1635 Peter Bulkeley 
immigrated to Concord, Massachusetts. Christian Mellows lived in Newton, Long Island, New 
York and Gershom Bulkeley lived in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut. Sarah Petit lived in 
Newtown, Queens County, New York and John Bulkeley lived in Concord, Middlesex, 
Massachusetts. Elisie Skillman lived in Somerset, New Jersey and Lucy Bulkeley lived in 
Colchester, New London, Connecticut. Jannetje Aten lived in Somerville, Somerset, New Jersey 
and Dorothy Lord lived in Owego, Tioga, New York. Thomas Lucas live in Lebanon, Warren 
County, Ohio and Hope Talcott lived in Owego, Tioga, New York. New York Sarah Lucas lived 
in Warren County, Ohio and David Goodrich lived in Owego, Tioga, New York. Sarah Ulrey 
lived in Warren County, Ohio and Lyman Truman Goodrich lived in Owego, Tioga, New York. 
Daniel Ulrey Hutchinson lived in Argonia, Kansas and Clarence L. Goodrich live in New York.  

Several generations on the Donald side lived in Owego, New York. Owego is a village in and the 
county seat of Tioga County, New York. The population was 3,911 at the 2000 census. It is part 
of the Binghamton Metropolitan Statistical Area. The name is derived from the Iroquois word 
Ahwaga, meaning where the valley widens. The Village of Owego is by the west town line of the 
Town of Owego and is west of Binghamton, New York. 

 

         
 

  Odell, England    Tiago, County 
 

Generation 1 
 

Edward Bulkeley and Olive Irbey 
 
Reverend Edward Bulkeley was born in 1540 in Woore, Shropshire, England and died January 
5, 1620 in Odell, Belfordshire, England. He was the son of Thomas Bulkeley and Elizabeth 
Grosvenor. He married Olive Irby in 1566 in Belfordshire, England. Olive Irby was born in 
1547 in Kirton, Bedfordshire, England and died March 10, 1614 in Odell, Belfordshire, England. 
She was the daughter of John Irby and Rose Overton.  
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Edward Bulkeley is the second son of Thomas Buckeley (1515) and Elizabeth Grosvenor (1515). 
Olive Irby is the daughter of John Irby born 1520 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England and Rose 
Overton born 1526 in Clerkenwell, Middlesex, England.  
 
Edward Bulkeley D.D. was a Moderate Puritan and had three sons and twelve daughters. He was 
curate of St. Marys, Shrewsbury, in 1550; afterwards he was prebend of Chester and then of 
Lichfield. In 1558 he became rector of All Saints Church in Odell, Bedfordshire, where he died. 
He resigned his pastorate in 1609, probably because of increasing age, and died at Odell early in 
January 1620. His burial on January 5, 1620 was entered in the Odell registers by his son Peter, 
who had succeeded him as Rector.  The will of Edward Bulkley late of "Woodhall" Bedford, 
doctor of theology, deceased, was proved January 1621, and a commission to administer was 
granted to Peter Bulkley, son of the said deceased, and executor named in the will [Westminster 
Act Book, No. 3, fo. 59] The will does not exist, either filed or in the register.  
 
He was a moderate non-conformist, a learned divine, an able preacher, well connected and 
possessed of considerable wealth. He was one of the commissioners appointed by the Bishop of 
Lincoln in 1608 for the "Levye of Armour" in Bedfordshire among the clergy. The supplement to 
Fox's Acts and Monuments of the Martyrs was written by him. His son, Rev. Peter Bulkeley, 
emigrated to America and settled in Concord.  
 
He matriculated pensioner from St. John's College, Cambridge, Michaelmas in 1555; Scholar, 
1555; B.A.,1559/60 M.A., 1563; B.D., 1569; DD. 1578; Fellow, 1560. He obtained the 
rectorship of Odell in Bedfordshire, probably in 1571. He "compounded" for the living at Odell, 
March 6, 1571/2, as is shown by the Bishops Certificates of the Diocese of Canterbury. This 
means that he then paid to his superior his first year's salary, as was then the established practice 
in the English Church.  
 
We owe to the late Col. Banks the following interesting item from Shrewsbury Corporation 
Record, Burgess Roll, 1580: Edward Bulkeley of Shrewsbury professor of theology, son of 
Thomas, admitted burges and has issue Nathaniel, aged 6; Mary, aged 13; Frances, aged 12; 
Judith, aged 10; Martha, aged 8; Deborah, aged 5; Dorcas, aged 3; Elizabeth, aged 1.  
 
Rev. Richard Madockes of Woodhall.[Odell], County Bedford, in his will dated August 15, 
1606, proved November 27, 1606, after providing for his relatives in Shrewsbury, gave legacies 
to Mr. Doctor Bulkley, Mistress Olive Bulkley, and their daughter Mistress Elizabeth Bulkley 
and appointed Edward Bulkley, D.D., and pastor, sole executor. Dr. Bulkeley's daughter the 
"Mistress Elizabeth" referred to above, married Richard Whittingham, of Sutterton, County. 
Lincoln. He in his will, dated March 6, 1615, proved April 1, 1618, made provision for his wife 
Elizabèth, by whom he then had no children, and his own heirs; and then gave legacies to his 
"brother" (in-law) Mellowes' children to William Ingoldsbie, a son of brother-in-law Anthony 
Ingoldsbie, clerk, and the rest of sister Ingoldsbie's children, and to Olive Welbie (daughter of 
Frances Bulkeley) and all the rest of her brothers and sisters; also to his father-in-law, Mr. 
Doctor Buckley, his brother-in-law Mr. Peter Buckley, and the latter's son Edward; and made 
Mr. Anthony Ingoldsbie, of Fishtoft, clerk, one of the supervisors of the will. 
 
http://www.archive.org/stream/bulkeleyfamilyor00chap/bulkeleyfamilyor00chap_djvu.txt 
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The children of Edward Bulkeley and Olive Irby are: 
 

1. Mary Bulkeley, born 1567 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1610. 
2. Frances Bulkeley, born 01 January 1568 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1610 in 

Moulton, Spalding, Lincolnshire, England; married Richard Welby; born January 1,1564 
in Moulton, Spalding, Lincolnshire, England; died 1610 in Moulton, Spalding, 
Lincolnshire, England. 

3. Judith Bulkeley, born 1570 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1639 in Massachusetts. 
4. Martha Bulkeley, born 1572 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1639 in Charlestown, 

Massachusetts; married Abraham Mellows 1595 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England. 
5. Nathaniel Bulkeley, born 1574 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1602 in London, 

England. 
6. Deborah Bulkeley, born 1575 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England. 
7. Dorcas Bulkeley, born 1577 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 16 October 1616 in 

Odell, Bedfordshire, England; married Anthony Ingoldspy December 10, 1598 in Odell, 
Bedfordshire, England; born 1573. 

8. Elizabeth Bulkeley, born 1579 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died October 14, 1643 in 
Boston, Suffolk, Massachusetts; married Richard Whittingham January 9, 1615 in 
Holland, Lincoln, England; born 1579 in Sutterton County, Lincoln; died April 1618 in 
Lincolnshire, England. 

9. Sarah Bulkeley, born 1580 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1611 in Keysoe, 
Bedfordshire, England; married Oliver St. John 1597 in Bletsoe, Bedfordshire, England; 
born 1570 in London, Middlesex, England; died March 23, 1624 in Keysoe, 
Bedfordshire, England. 

10. Paul Bulkeley, born 1582 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died October 19, 1610 in 
Cambridge, Cambridgeshire, England.  

11. Peter Bulkeley, born January 31, 1583 in Odell, Belfordshire, England; died March 9, 
1658 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; married Grace Chetwood; born 1602 in 
England; died April 21, 1669 in New London, Connecticut. 

12. Dorothy Bulkeley, born 1589 in Towchester, Northamptonshire, England; died August 2, 
1676 in Towchester, Northamptonshire, England; married Richard Lord; born 1555 in 
Towchester, Northamptonshire, England; died May 30, 1610 in Towchester, 
Northamptonshire, England. 

 
Generation 2 

 
Abraham Mellows and Martha Bulkeley 

 
Abraham Mellows, born 1570 in Boston, Lincolnshire, England; died April 23, 1638 in 
Charlestown, Massachusetts. He married Martha Bulkeley 1595 in Odell, Bedfordshire, 
England. Martha Bulkeley, born 1572 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1639 in 
Charlestown, Massachusetts. She was the daughter of Reverend Edward Bulkeley and Olive 
Irby. 
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Abraham and Martha immigrated to America in 1633. "Abraham Mellows and Martha his wife 
and Edward Mellows their son" were admitted to Charlestown church on the nineteenth day of a 
month late in 1633, probably October. Abraham was Charlestown overseer of highways, January 
13, 1634/5. He was granted two acres of planting ground in Charlestown, January 10, 1634/5 and 
had a proportion of seven in the hayground in 1635, which was increased to eight. He had five 
acres Mystic Side, 1637 and in 1637 his share in the hayground was one and three-quarters 
(and his son Edward had a share of four). In the allotment of land Mystic Side Abraham received 
parcels of ten, thirty-five and five acres. On September 6, 1638 the Massachusetts Bay General 
Court granted to "Mr. Abraham Mellows" two hundred acres of land. On June 4, 1639 the "will 
of Mr. Abraham Mellows was delivered in" to Suffolk court. On June 2, 1641 the General Court 
granted "200 acres of land ... to the heir or assign of Mr. Abrah[am] Mellows". This was 
presumably a confirmation of the grant of September 6, 1638, for on June 9, 1641 Sergeant 
Edward Mellowes of Charlestown petitioned the General Court for a grant of 300 acres, on the 
basis that "about 10 or 11 years since" his father Mr. Abraham Mellowes had contributed £50 to 
the common stock [of the Massachusetts Bay Company], that this should have resulted in a grant 
of 500 acres, and that only 200 acres had been granted so far. The petitioner stated that he was 
"heir & assignee of his said father deceased," and that the original contribution had been made by 
his father at the suggestion of Mr. Humfrey, who had promised a grant of 500 acres. 
 
Through his marriage to Martha Bulkeley, Abraham Mellowes became a part of an extensive and 
distinguished kinship network, many members of which came to New England. In her will of 
December 16, 1636 Dorothy Wooll of Clypsam, Rutland, widow, bequeathed "to my friends in 
New England, to Mr. Cotton £10, to his two children £5 each, to Mr. Mellowes £10, and to Mr. 
James £5". Abraham Mellowes and his family provide an early connection between two centers 
of Puritanism, both of which later made major contributions to the Great Migration. He 
presumably married Martha Bulkeley in the vicinity of Odell, Bedfordshire, and he was certainly 
residing there in 1609 when his son Edward was baptized there. By 1615 Abraham Mellowes 
was living at Boston, Lincolnshire, where he became a parishioner of Reverend John Cotton. Mr. 
Abra[ham] Mellowes" was admitted as an inhabitant of Charlestown in September 1633, and 
was in the lists of inhabitants of January 9, 1633/4 and January 1635/6. He signed the agreement 
establishing the office of selectman in Charlestown, February 10, 1634/5. On March 4, 1634/5 
whereas "Mr. Cullimor, servant to Mr. Abr[aham] Mellowes, is necessarily employed in public 
service of the commonwealth in making carriages, it is therefore ordered, that John Humfrey & 
John Endicott, Esq., shall have power to press any other carpenter to supply the need of Mr. 
Mellowes in lieu of his said servant". Savage noted that Abraham Mellowes died "leaving six 
children, says Felt". This statement derives from a court order of September 1, 1640 in which 
"Mr. Atherton Hoffe, Mr. Thom[as] Leveret, & Mr. Thom[as] Colebron have authority & order 
to sell the house & ground which was Mr. Mellows, to be disposed of by them for the good of 
the six children till they come to age, or marry, & the eldest son to have a double portion". This 
latter record applies not to Abraham Mellowes, but to his eldest son Oliver Mellowes, who died 
not long after his father. Martha Bulkeley is the sister of Peter Bukleley who was prominent in 
early Connecticut history. Her family is a family of great antiquity in Lincolnshire. Abraham's 
birth date is estimated from his marriage date, and his marriage date from the birth of his first 
child. His first child's birth date, in turn, is estimated from his wedding date. Abraham Mellows, 
Martha his wife and Edward Mellows their son were admitted to Charlestown church on the 
nineteenth day of a month late in 1633, probably October. 



6 
 

 
Abraham was made a freeman of the colony on 14 May 1634. This was just 14 years after the 
Mayflower, and you could probably hear wolves howling in the night from what is now suburban 
Boston. He was Charlestown's overseer of highways, January 13, 1634/5. 
 
Children of Abraham Mellows and Martha Bulkeley are: 
 

1. Oliver Mellows, born 1595 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died January 5, 1637 in 
Braintree, Massachusetts; married Mary James August 3, 1620 in Lincolnshire, England; 
born 13 October 1597 in Lincolnshire, England; died March 1632 in Braintree, 
Middlesex, Massachusetts. 

2. Richard Mellows, born 1597 in Lincolnshire, England; died 1639. 
3. Elizabeth Mellows, born 1600 in Lincolnshire, England; died February 8, 1618 in 

Lincolnshire, England. 
4. Ann Mellows, born 1603 in Lincolnshire, England. 
5. Abraham Mellows, born 1605 in Lincolnshire, England; died January 29, 1616 in 

Lincolnshire, England. 
6. Catherine Mellows, born 1608 in Lincolnshire, England. 
7. Edward Mellows, born August 24, 1609 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died May 5, 

1650 in Charlestown, Suffolk, Massachusetts; married Hannah Smith; born 1612 in 
Boston, Lincolnshire, England. 

8. Christian Mellows, born 1611 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died September 2, 1665 
in Newton, Long Island, New York; married Thomas Pettit November 1626 in 
Massachusetts. 

 
Peter Bulkeley and Grace Chetwood 

 
Peter Bulkeley, born January 31, 1583 in Odell, Belfordshire, England; died March 9, 1658 in 
Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts. He was the son of Reverand Edward Bulkeley and Olive 
Irby. He married Grace Chetwood.  Grace Chetwood, was born in 1602 in England; died April 
21, 1669 in New London, Connecticut. She was the daughter of Richard Chetwood and 
Dorothy Needham. 
 
Peter Bulkeley or Bulkley was an influential early Puritan preacher who left England for greater 
religious freedom in the American colony of Massachusetts. He was a founder of Concord, and 
was named by descendant Ralph Waldo Emerson in his poem about Concord, Hamatreya. 
Bulkeley, reputedly a descendant of the Plantagenets, was born at Odell, Bedfordshire, England. 
He was admitted to St. John's College at Cambridge University at the age of sixteen, where he 
received several degrees. At one point he was even a Fellow of St. John's. After finishing his 
education, Bulkeley succeeded his father as rector of Odell, 1610-1635. During this time 
Bulkeley followed in his father's footsteps as a non-conformist. Finally in the 1630s there were 
increasing complaints about his preaching and he was silenced by the archbishop for his 
unwillingness to conform to the requirements of the Anglican Church. In 1633, Charles I 
reissued the Declaration of Sports, an ecclesiastical limitation on allowed recreational activities, 
with the stipulation that any minister unwilling to read from the pulpit should be removed, and 
Bulkeley's sentiments, along with others in the Puritan movement, were against it. In 1634, 
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Bulkeley refused to wear a surplice or use the Sign of the Cross at a visitation for Archbishop 
William Laud. For this infraction he was ejected from the parish, at least temporarily. Within the 
year he emigrated to New England, coming aboard the Susan and Ellen in 1635. He was 
ordained at Cambridge, Massachusetts in April 1637, and "having carried a good number of 
planters with him into the woods", became the first minister in Musketaquid, later named 
Concord. He was "noted even among Puritans for the superlative stiffness of his Puritanism". He 
was known for his facility in Latin with both epigrams and poetry, with Cotton Mather praising 
the latter. As a writer, his book of Puritan sermons titled The Gospel Covenant, or the Covenant 
of Grace Opened, published in London in 1646, in which he appealed to "the people of New 
England," that they might "labor to shine forth in holiness above all other people", and evoked 
the City upon a Hill of John Winthrop. To historian Moses Coit Tyler, the "monumental book ... 
stands for the intellectual robustness of New England in the first age." It is considered one of the 
first books published in New England. Bulkeley served as moderator at a 1637 synod called in 
Cambridge due to what Emerson called the "errors" of Anne Hutchinson. According to 
"tradition", a council of Indians considering attacking the town of Concord held off because 
"Bulkeley is there, the man of the big pray!" He died in Concord. His first wife, Jane Allen, died 
in 1626. His second wife Grace Chetwode and sons John, Benjamin, and Daniel accompanied 
him to America. His son, Peter Bulkeley, married Rebecca Wheeler about 1667, was a Fellow of 
Harvard University, a Massachusetts Freeman (franchised voter), and a Commissioner of the 
United Colonies, in addition to a career as a preacher. 
 
Peter Bulkeley was first married to Jane Allen in 1613. 
 
Children of Peter Bulkeley and Jane Allen are: 
 

1. Edward Bulkeley, born June 12, 1614 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 02 
January1795 in Chelmsford, England. 

2. Mary Bulkeley, born August 24, 1615 in Bedfordshire, England; died 13 January1616 in 
Bedfordshire, England. 

3. Thomas Bulkeley, born April 17, 1617 in Bedfordshire, England; died 1658 in Fairfield, 
Connecticut; married Sarah Jones; born 1620 in Fairfield, Connecticut; died 1683 in 
Fairfield, Connecticut. 

4. Nathaniel Bulkeley, born November 29, 1618 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died  
February 11, 1628 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England. 

5. John Bulkeley, born February 6, 1619 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died  January 28, 
1689 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; married Ann Try; born 1620 in Odell, 
Bedfordshire, England; died March 19, 1650. 

6. Mary Bulkeley, born November 1, 1621 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died April 20, 
1624 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England. 

7. Joseph Bulkeley, born May 4, 1623 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1659 
8. Benjamin Bulkeley, born June 2, 1624 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1659; 

married Isabel Bowdler. 
9. Daniel Bulkeley, born August 28, 1625 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 1648 in 

Fairfield, Connecticut. 
10. Jabez Bulkeley, born December 24, 1626 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England; died 

December 2, 1629 in Odell, Bedfordshire, England. 
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The children of Peter Bulkeley and Grace Chetwood are: 
 

1. Gershom Bulkeley, born December 6, 1636 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; died 
December 2, 1713 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; married Sarah Chauncey.  

2. Eleazer Bulkeley, born after 1638 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachuetts; died after 1658. 
3. Dorothy Bulkeley, born August 2, 1640 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachuetts Concord, 

Middlesex, Massachuetts; died 1674.  
4. Peter Bulkeley, born June 12, 1643 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; died 1691 in 

Fairfield, Connecticut; married (1) Margaret Foxcraft; born 1645 in Fairfield, Fairfield, 
Connecticut; died 1691 in Fairfield, Fairfield, Connecticut; married (2) Rebecca Wheeler; 
born September 6, 1645 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; died February 20, 1718 in 
Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts. 

 
Generation 3 

 
Thomas Pettit and Christian Mellows 

 
Christian Mellows married Thomas Pettit, in England 1629. Christian was born in England 
about 1609, died at Newton, Long Island, New York before October 1668. Christian was the 
daughter of Abraham Pettit and Martha Bulkeley. Thomas and Christian sailed for America on 
the ship Talbot leaving England in March of 1630. They landed at Cambridge Massachusetts 
July 2, 1630. Their son Thomas was born on board the ship in Salem Harbor. Also on this ship 
was Anna Pettit who was probably daughter of Henri Pettit (Thomas’ father); and John Pettit 
born about 1608 in England who is probably an uncle to Thomas Pettit. On January 8, 1737/8 in 
Boston Thomas was granted a house-plot "over toward the new mill" where the Capitol now 
stands. Between this lot and that of Oliver Mellows (a manufacturer of cloth) John Hancock later 
built the finest mansion in New England. It was unfortunately torn down about 1856; a bronze 
plate marks its location. 
 
Thomas Pettit was christened on April 17, 1614. He was granted a house plot in Boston, on 
which the State House now stands. Thomas and his brother signed the Donegan Charter of New 
York. Thomas' wife Christian Mellows was a descendant of King Edward I, Knight of the Garter 
and also a descendant of eight sureties of the Magna Charta: 1. Hugh Bigod, 2. Roger Bigod, 3. 
Henry De Bohun, 4. Gilbert De Clare, 5. Richard De Clare, 6. John De Lacie, 7. William De 
Lanvalle and 8. Saire De Quincey. 
 
Thomas Pettit was born in 1609 in Widford, Essex, England and died October 1688 in Newton, 
Long Island, New York. He was the son of Henri Pettit and Anna. Consistently a non-
conformist, Thomas Pettit, with many others in 1637, sided with Mrs. Anne Hutchinson, and her 
brother-in-law, Rev. John Wheelwright, in their controversy with the Massachusetts Bay Colony. 
During the trial, 7th of 1st mo.1638, Thomas Pettit, was arrested on suspicion of slander, 
insubordination and inciting a riot. He was convicted and sentenced to receive thirty lashes and 
to be held in gaol.  Gaol is an early Modern English spelling for jail, with the same pronunciation 
and meaning of a place of legal detention. As the church and state were then one, they were all 
arrested, but were later released upon their agreeing to leave the colony within ten days. Mrs. 
Hutchinson went to the Rhode Island Plantation of Roger Williams, while Thomas Pettit went to 
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the Falls of the Piscataqua in New Hampshire with Rev. John Wheelwright and thirty-three 
others and, on a tract called Winnicomette obtained from the Indians, they founded the town of 
Exeter, and in 1638 established the Congregational Church. In the founding he received six acres 
and thirty poles as his share of Exeter upland.   On July 4, 1639 they joined in signing the Exeter 
Combination, a Declaration of Independence.   Although half of the 35 signers made their mark, 
the signature of Thomas Pettit is seen in excellent handwriting.   He became in 1647 chief 
military man and Inspector of Staves.   He served as Selectman of Exeter from 1652 to 1655. 
 
The Duke of York, brother of Charles II, granted to the Massachusetts Bay Colony all the land 
east of the earlier Connecticut grant. This enabled the Bay Colony to surround the settlement at 
Exeter, making it economically necessary for it, in order to survive, to be reinstated with the 
Massachusetts Bay Colony. 
 
Thomas Pettit, unwilling to be again under its jurisdiction, sold his property and, with his wife 
and eight children and other settlers, came in 1655 to Long Island and petitioned Governor 
Stuyvesant, who granted them the right to settle. They named the place Newtown, now, since 
1895, Elmhurst, Queens County (Mespat and formerly called Mittleburg) which the Dutch had 
settled in 1644. 
 
Soon after his arrival on Long Island the Town Marshal, one Elias Bailey, was voted out of 
office by the townspeople for exercising the duties of his office in an objectionable manner, and 
Thomas Pettit was elected May 8, 1657 to fill the office.   This rather complicated matters, for 
his son, Nathaniel 1st, had fallen in love with the deposed Marshal's daughter, Mary Bailey. 
 
On December 4, 1666 Thomas Pettit's name was on the list of freeholders, and in 1708 he was 
one of the first eight members of the Presbyterian Church in Newton, Long Island, New York.   
Christian his wife (Asahel Pettit says her name was Catherine) became a member about five 
years later.   The names Bailey and Furman occur frequently on the Church roll. Thomas Pettit 
1st, born about 1609, was living as late as March 1668 and died in Newtown before October 
1668. 
 
Thomas Pettit 1st and his wife Christian Mellows had at least nine children; the exact order of 
their birth is not known. 
 
1. Thomas Pettit 2d, born on board ship "Talbot", Salem Harbor, Essex, Massachusetts on 

June 25, 1630 and died in 1715 in New Rochelle, Westchester, New York. He married 
Sarah Perry, Mary Way and Catherine Branch. 

2. Sarah Pettit, born 1634 in Newtown, Queens, New York , died 1704 in Newtown, 
Queens, New York, married Thomas Skillman. 

3. Joseph Pettit, born at Boston 1636 married Margaret German. 
4. Elizabeth Pettit, born at Exeter 1637, died 1664 in Long Island, Queens, New York, 

married John Burroughs and Thomas Reed. 
5. John Pettit, born at Exeter 1638, died 1715 in Stamford, Fairfield, Connecticut, married 

Sarah Scofield and Sarah Bailey. 
6. Mary Pettit, born at Exeter, Rockingham, New Hampshire 1640, died 1669 in New York, 

married John Furman. 
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7. Moses Pettit, born at Exeter, Rockingham, New Hampshire 1642, died 1716 in 
Mansfield, Burlington, New Jersey, married Lydia Lawrence. 

8. Nathaniel Pettit, born 1645 at Exeter, Rockingham, New Hampshire, died June 1718 in 
Hopewell, Hunterdon, New Jersey, married Mary Bailey. 

9. Hannah Pettit, born at Exeter 1647. Hannah is mentioned in 1678 in the Will of her sister 
Elizabeth 

 
Nathaniel Pettit was a resident of Long Island in 1673 and in 1686, was a signer of the charter of 
Newtown and removed from Newtown to Hopewell Township in 1696. Nathaniel Pettit owned 
and occupied the plantation on the river directly below that of Joshua Ely, Senior. His will dated 
March 13, 1714-15, proved June 25, 1718. He testified in court in December 1667 that he was 
then 22 years of age and that his brother John was older. 
 
http://awtc.ancestry.com/cgi-bin/igm.cgi?op=GET&db=*v19t1353&id=I169 
 

Rev. Gershom Bulkeley and Sarah Chauncey 
 
Rev. Gershom Bulkeley, born December 6, 1636 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; died 
December 2, 1713 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut. He was the son of Peter Bulkeley and 
Grace Chetwood. He married Sarah Chauncey on October 6, 1659. Sarah Chauncey, born June 
13, 1631 in Ware, Hertfordshire, England; died June 3, 1699 in Wethersfield, Hartford, 
Connecticut. She was the daughter of Charles Chauncey and Catherine Eyre.  
 
Children of Gershom Bulkeley and Sarah Chauncey are: 
 
1. Peter Bulkeley, born November 7, 1660 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; died  

November 22, 1701 in Hartford County, Connecticut; married Rachel Talcott; born April 2, 
1676 in Wethersfield, Hartford County, Connecticut; died January 8, 1725 in Wethersfield, 
Hartford County, Connecticut.  

2. Dorothy Bulkeley, born 1662 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died 1757 in 
Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; married Thomas Treat; born December 12, 1668 in 
Wethersfield, Hartford, Connecticut; died 17 January1713 in Glastonbury, Hartford, 
Connecticut.  

3. Charles Bulkeley, born 1663 in New London, Connecticut; died 1692 in New London, 
Connecticut; married Hannah Reymond; born August 8,1668 in New London, Connecticut; 
died January 28, 1742 in Norwich, New London, Connecticut.  

4. Katherine Bulkeley, born 1668 in Wethersfield, Hartford, Connecticut; died 1712 in 
Wethersfield, Hartford, Connecticut; married Richard Treat; born February 14, 1675 in 
Wethersfield, Hartford, Connecticut; died May 7, 1713 in Wethersfield, Hartford, 
Connecticut.   

5. Edward Bulkeley, born 1672 in Wethersfield, Hartford, Connecticut; died August 27, 1748 
in Wethersfield, Hartford, Connecticut; married Dorothy Prescott; born May 31, 1681 in 
Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; died November 30, 1760 in Wethersfield, Hartford, 
Connecticut.  

6. John Bulkeley, born 1679 in Colchester, New London, Connecticut; died  June 9, 1731 in 
Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; married Patience Prentice. 
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Brothers Thomas Treat and Richard Treat married sisters Dorothy Bulkeley and Katherine 
Bulkeley. The brothers were the sons of Richard Treat and Sarah Coleman.  
 
Rev. Gershom Bulkeley graduated from Harvard College in 1655 before completing his 
nineteenth year. He married Sarah Chauncey, daughter of President Chauncey, of Harvard, the 
emigrant ancestor of the name, October 26, 1659. She was born in Ware, England, June 13, 
1631. In the year 1661, Mr. Bulkeley located at New London as the second minister of the 
church there. Mr. Bulkeley is supposed to have removed from New London to Wethersfield in 
the year 1667. He was installed pastor of the church in Wethersfield the same year as successor 
to Rev. John Russell, who had removed to Hadley, Mass. He continued as the pastor there about 
ten years, when he was dismissed in the year 1677. He then devoted himself to the practice of 
medicine and surgery. He was appointed by the general court in 1675 surgeon to the army that 
had been raised against the Indians, and Mr. Stone was directed to supply his place in his 
absence. In 1676, while the party to which he was attached was in pursuit of the enemy, he was 
attacked by a number of Indians near Wachuset hill, in Massachusetts, and received a wound in 
his thigh. Soon after, Mr. Bulkeley devoted himself to the practice of medicine, and located on 
the east side of the river, in what is now Glastonbury, and became quite a landowner. As a 
clergyman, he stood at the head of his profession, and ranked among the first in medical science. 
He was famous as a surveyor, pre-eminent in his time as a chemist, and was highly respected  
as a magistrate. He died at Wethersfield December 2, 17 13. On his monument is the following 
testimonial: " He was honorable in his descent, of rare abilities, extraordinary industry, excellent 
learning, master of many languages, exquisite in his skill in divinity, physic and law, and of a 
most exemplary and Christian life."  
 
Gershom’s parents and older siblings landed at Boston in midsummer, 1635. Historian Jacobus 
notes that “When he was born some months later, the name of Gershom was bestowed on him. 
This was not a family name on either side, but was chosen from the Bible to commemorate the 
fact that the child was born far from home — for quite naturally England was still looked upon 
as home. Gershom means “an exile”; ‘I have been a stranger in a strange land.’ (Exodus, II. 22).” 
He was appointed Chirurgeon to the army in October 1675, and added to the Connecticut 
Council of War (King Philip’s War); he was reappointed Chirurgeon to the army, May 1676; 
wounded by a shot from the enemy, March 1676, on Major Treat’s expedition northward; was 
granted £30 by the Council for his good service to the country, January 1676/7; was granted 
liberty, October 1677, to transport 200 deer skins out of the Colony to be exchanged for 
medicines. He served as Deputy for Wethersfield to the Connecticut General Court, May 1679. 
In October 1686 he was licensed to practice physic and chirurgery. He was a Justice of the Peace 
for Hartford County under Gov. Andros in 1687.  
 
Obituary: From Jacobus’ Bulkeley Genealogy: 
 
The will of Rev. Gershom Bulkeley, dated 26 May 1712, in his own handwriting, calls him 
“Practitioner in Physick” and contains a long preamble, beginning: “I, ye said Gershom 
Bulkeley, having much more than twenty years walked upon ye very mouth of ye grave, under so 
great infirmity, yt I cannot but wonder how I have all this while escaped falling into it, have not 
been wholly umnindfull of yt wch nature and common prudence calls for in such cases. But in ye 
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meantime sorrowful changes from ye right hand of ye most High have passed over me, and some 
yt I had hoped would have survived me have prevented me and left me behind them, whereby, 
with some Incident considerations I am moved to alter some things wch otherwise I should not 
have done. And therefore, remaining still, though very weak in body yet of sound mind and 
memory, I do now make this (I hope) my last will and testament, hereby revoking and annulling 
all former wills whatsoever made by me: In ye first place, Casting myselfe upon ye Riches of 
Sovereign Grace, (if God have wrought any truth in my most deceitfull heart,) I commit my 
sinfull soul into ye mercifull hands of my most Gracious Lord & savior Jesus Christ, whom God 
hath exalted by & at his own Right hand, to be a Prince & a savior, to give Repentance and 
Remission of sins unto Israel. To him therfore I fly for both, with ye humble and comprehensive 
Petition of ye Publican, God be mercifull to me a sinner. And my body I commit to ye dust, as it 
was, to be (as near to my late dear wife, as conveniently may be,) decently but obscurely buryed 
without much cost or Ceremony. I neither deserve nor desire those things, yet desire a part in ye 
first & better Resurrection of ye Just.  
 
"And as for these few poor children wch I shall leave behind me, in a most sinfull and calamitous 
world, to grapple with difficult times, ye best bequest I have for them, is Luthers short, but 
significant and pertinent prayer, Tu Domine, [...], Serva, Doce. To him therfore I commend & 
give them all, humbly beseeching him, That he will graciously accept them and theirs, & make 
them all his own, & faithfull to him to ye death, & be their Portion; a God & Father to them in 
Christ his Son, from generation to generation, Amen."  
 
The will bequeaths to son Edward all his law books and manuscripts; to son John his religious 
books and manuscripts, referring to those written by his grandfather, his father, and himself; to 
daughter Dorothe the rest of personal estate, including negro maid Hannah; son-in-law Thomas 
Treat Executor; bequests to son Charles’ daughter Hannah Goodrich, to daughters-in-law 
Hannah Avery and Rachel Wolcott (probably Tolcott), and to son Edward’s wife Dorothe; to 
brother Peter's children,—Gershom, Peter, Grace, Margaret, and Dorothe, said Grace to have 
“my great red rugge wch was her mother’s.” To grandson Richard Treat, son of Thomas and 
Dorothe, all his books and manuscripts concerning medicine and chemistry, and a Latin and a 
Dutch Grammar; “together with all my vessels and instruments useful, whether of glass, brass or 
copper, iron, stone or earth”; provided he hold and pursue his inclination to that study. To 
deceased daughter Catherine Treat’s only child, Catherine Treat. A codicil, dated November 24, 
1713, states that Thomas Treat having died, Gershom's daughter Dorothe Treat is to be sole 
Executrix; will proved December 7, 1713. 
 
Widow Hannah Reymond Bulkeley married Thomas Avery. Son Charles’ daughter Hannah 
Bulkeley married Richard Goodrich, the son of Ephraim Goodrich and Sarah Treat and great 
grand parents of Erastus Goodrich in generation 8 of this document. 

Generation 4 
 

Thomas Skillman and Sarah Pettit 
 
Thomas Skillman was born about 1637 in Rotherheigh, Surrey, England.  He died April 1, 1699 
in Newtown, Queens, New York. He was the son of Joseph Skillman and Susan Mussarow. 
Thomas was a soldier under Colonel Richard Nicolls in Expedition of Duke of York ordered by 
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the King, February 25, 1664. He sailed from Portsmouth, May 15, and dropped anchor in the 
harbor of New Amsterdam (near present day Fort Hamilton) on August 18 of the same year. 
After the surrender he stayed in America and became 'inhabitant and freeholder' at Newtown, 
Long Island, New York, under Nicolls Patent of January 23, 1666. He also served in Esopus 
War; honorably discharged April 6, 1668. He did not return to England, but remained in this new 
country and raised his family. By 1666 he settled on Long Island in the community of Newtown 
and married (in 1669) Sarah Pettit who was born about 1634 in Newtown, Queens County, New 
York; died after 1704 at Newtown, Queens County, New York; daughter of Thomas Pettit and 
Christian Mellowes. Thomas took an Oath of Allegience to King Charles II, on February 19, 
1665 at Elizabeth Town. 
 
The children of Thomas and Sarah are: 
 
1. Thomas Skillman born 1671; married about 1693 Annetje Aten born about 1667 Flatbush 

NY; died after 1 November1741; daughter of Adrian Hendrickse Aten. Resided Newtown 
Long Island, New York. Thomas left will dated February 13, 1739; probated July 4, 1740. 

2. Elsje Skillman born 1672 Newton, Queens County, New York; married 1694 Thomas 
Aten born about 1670 Flatbush New York and died 1757; son of Adrian Hendrickse Aten. 
Elsje died in 1704 in Somerset, New Jersey. 

3. Sarah Skillman born 1675 Newtown New York; married 1694 Cornelis Hendricksen. 
4. Elizabeth Skillman born 1677 Newtown New York; died after August 20, 1742 in New 

York, New York, married Jan Aten. After 1710, they moved to Three Mile Run, New 
Jersey. 

 
Note that siblings Thomas Skillman, Elizabeth Skillman, and Elsje Skillman married siblings 
Annetje Aten, Jan Aten, and Thomas Aten. 
 
Thomas Skillman, a soldier, reportedly came to New England with a British invasion force in 
1664. Charles II had assigned to his brother James, Duke of York, all of the area making up the 
Dutch holdings of Nieuw Nederlands (New York State), including part of Connecticut and all of 
Long Island. Although the British had no real moral right to the area, they found the existence of 
a Dutch Colony sandwiched between England's colonial possessions in New England and 
Virginia to be irksome and had the military strength to remove the irritant. The expedition was 
ordered by Charles II on February 25, 1664, and was led by Colonel Richard Nicholls. Some 450 
troops sailed from Portsmouth on May 15. Thomas was reportedly aboard the Guinea, the chief 
of three or possibly four small vessels. It was about a ten-week crossing. The first fifteen days of 
the voyage saw good wind and weather, and the ships kept company until July 13. Then, 
however, the weather took a turn for the worse and the ships were separated in the fog. The 
Guinea dropped anchor in Nyack Bay between Coney Island and Nieuw Utrecht on August 18.  
 
The Dutch Governor, Peter Stuyvesant, had been warned of the expedition's coming, and strove 
to rouse the Dutch colonists to resistance. His efforts were in vain; the Dutch were unhappy with 
Stuyvesant and the role of the Dutch West India Company in governing the colony, and wanted a 
greater role in the government for themselves. Most Dutch believed English rule would give 
them that role, and most refused to raise a hand to defend the Colony. The Dutch surrendered to 
fairly conciliatory terms, and handed the Colony over to the English who renamed it New York.  



14 
 

Colonel Nicholls became the Deputy Governor of the colony and Thomas decided to stay on 
with him; there is another family tradition that he was a favorite of the new governor. He is 
reported to have received a land patent from Nicholls for land at Albany, New York, and also at 
Bushwick, but he did not settle there. He lived for a time across the Hudson River Bay at 
Elizabeth, Union County, New Jersey, where he was recorded fifth on a list of sixty swearing an 
oath of allegiance to King Charles II on February 19, 1665. He did not remain long, however, for 
in a patent dated January 23, 1666, he is listed as an inhabitant and freeholder in Newtown, 
Queen's County, New York; Newtown was across the East River from New York City. There he 
settled on 200 acres in the area known as Maspeth (or Dutch) Kills. The area was originally a 
part of the Dutch colony of New Netherlands, and was settled by a predominantly Dutch 
population. By the time the English took control of the colony, the Dutch inhabitants had been 
joined by a sizeable number of English families, including Thomas'.  
 
At this same time, he again took up soldiering. He was one of twenty-five men sent by the 
Governor to "chastise" the Indians who three years before had committed the Wiltwyck 
Massacre at Esopus (present-day Kingston, Ulster County), New York. As an inducement, the 
Governor had promised each man a land bounty of ten acres at Esopus. His name appears on the 
list of those agreeing to accept "dividends of lots" there "whenever the governor shall give order 
for laying them out." Although the lots were later laid out by the surveyor Jacques Cortelleau and 
taken up by several of the men, Thomas appears to have never taken up residence there; it is 
presently unknown what disposition he made of it. He received his discharge on April 6, 1668, 
and returned home to Newtown.  
 
In February 1672, John and Samuel Brown of Flushing, Queens County, paid Thomas £0.07.06 
for three days work (at what is unspecified). Thomas appears on the 1686 list of Newtown 
freeholders. He was taxed in Newtown in 1683 on "1 head 10 [acres] lands 1 Horses 6 Cowes: 3 
3 yeares 2 1 yeares 2 Sheep." On 5 May 1686, William Albertus assigned a bill of sale of land to 
Thomas: "Know all men by thes prsent that I william all burtis have & by thes prsents doe 
assings sett & make over all my Rite titell & Intrist of this bill of sale with Ever part & parsell 
ther of: on in Mentioned unto thomas skillman of Mashpatt Kills I say I have maide over for mee 
My Hiers Exitors admtors unto him & for the proper ues & behoofe of him th sd Thomas Kill 
Man his Hiers Exitors adm::: & asings for Ever: as ther own proper Rit. & Just due in True 
performanc of the sam. I sett my hand this 5th of May 1686."  
 
It is thought he died around 1697, but certainly before April 1, 1699 by which date his wife was 
remarried to Cornelius Breese, presumably in Newtown. He was buried in a cemetery thought to 
be located "between Gilbert Street and Rearsall Street, and on each side of Bradley Avenue, at a 
place called Blissville, north of and near Calvary Cemetery in Long Island City, New York. The 
burying ground occupied a knoll adjoining the salt meadow, and is about one mile south of the 
Skillman farm. It was used by all different families of that neighborhood. About 1855, it was 
graded and the gravestones used to underpin a barn." 
 
His probate records have as yet proved elusive, perhaps because the British burned many of the 
town records during the Revolution and another fire in 1789 destroyed many of the remainder.  
Sarah married as her second husband Cornelius Breese of Brooklyn. On April 1, 1699, she 
transferred a quarter of her late husband's estate -- "housing, lands, meadows, and orchars, rights, 
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privileges, advantages, hereditaments and appurtenances thereunto belonging and in any wise 
appertaining" -- to her only son Thomas.  
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John Bulkeley and Patience Prentice 

 
John Bulkeley, born 1679 in Colchester, New London, Connecticut; died June 9, 1731 in 
Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts. He was the son of Gershom Bulkeley and Sarah 
Chauncey. He married Patience Prentice. Patience Prentice, born 1675 in Colcester, New 
London, Connecticut; died 1721 in Colchester, Connecticut. She was the daughter of John 
Prentice and Sarah Jones. Children of John Bulkeley and Patience Prentice are: 
 
1. Lucy Bulkeley, born January 29, 1720 in Colchester, New London, Connecticut; died  

May 10, 1800 in Colchester, New London, Connecticut; married Epaphras Lord  
November 25, 1742 in Colchester, New London, Connecticut.  

2. Dorothy Bulkeley, born February 28, 1706 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died 
1785 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts. 

3. Sarah Bulkeley, born April 8, 1702 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died 1798 in 
Colcester, New London, Connecticut; married (1) Joseph Trumble; born 27 March 1705 in 
Lebanon, Connecticut; died December 28, 1731 in At Sea - aboard the Brigantine 
“Lebanon”; married (2) John Welles; born December 16, 1693 in Colcester, New London, 
Connecticut; died in Colcester, New London, Connecticut.  

4. Colonel John Bulkeley, born April 19, 1705 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died 
July 21, 1753 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; married Mary Adams Gardiner; 
born March 15, 1714 in New London, Connecticut; died January 24, 1750 in Colcester, 
New London, Connecticut.  

5. Gershom Bulkeley, born February 4, 1708 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died 
1790 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; married Abigail Robbins; born August 17, 
1714 in Wethersfield, Hartford, Connecticut; died May 4, 1790 in Colcester, New London, 
Connecticut.  
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6. Charles Bulkeley, born December 26 1710 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died 
1762 in New London, Connecticut; married Ann Latimer; born March 25, 1722 in New 
London, Connecticut; died 1811 in Lyme, New London, Connecticut.  

7. Peter Bulkeley, born November 21, 1712 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died 
March 8, 1798 in Concord, Middlesex, Massachusetts; married Lucy Avery; born April 13, 
1722 in Groton, Middlesex, Massachusetts; died August 21, 1754 in Colcester, New 
London, Connecticut.  

8. Patience Bulkeley, born March 21, 1715 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died  July 
8, 1794 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; married Ichabod Lord; born March 16, 
1711 in Hartford County, Connecticut; died December 18, 1761 in Colcester, New London, 
Connecticut.  

9. Oliver Bulkeley, born July 29, 1717 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died 1779 in 
Colcester, New London, Connecticut; married Sarah Welles; born 1720 in Colcester, New 
London, Connecticut; died December 8, 1746 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut.  

10. Irene Bulkeley, born February 10, 1721 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died  
February 20, 1721 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut.  

11. Joseph Bulkeley, born February 10, 1721 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died  
February 25, 1721 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut. 

 

 
 

Colchester Burying Ground  
Colchester 

New London County 
Connecticut, USA 

 
Rev. John Bulkeley, son of Rev. Gershom and Sarah Chauncey Bulkeley, married Patience 
Prentice, daughter of John and Sarah Prentice, in 1701, and was father of eleven or twelve 
children. He graduated at Harvard College in 1699, studied divinity, and was ordained as pastor 
of the church in Colchester, Conn., December 20, 1703, and took a high rank among the 
clergymen of his time.  
 

Generation 5 
 

Thomas Aten and Elsie Skillman 
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Thomas Aten Sr. was born in 1670 Flatbush, Kings County, New York and died in 1757 in New 
Brunswick, Middlesex County, New Jersey. He was the son of Adriaen Hendrickse Aten and 
Elizabeth Thomas. His wife Elsie Skillman (also Schilman ) was born in 1672 in Newton, New 
York and died in 1757 in Somerset, New Jersey. Thomas took the Oath of Allegience to the King 
of England in September 1687 in Kings County, New York. He is listed in 1694 as; "a native of 
Fflackbush." He married Elsje Schilman, daughter of Captain Thomas Skillman and Sara 
Pettit, in 1694 in Brooklyn, Kings County, New York. He was listed before 1701 in New 
Brunswick, Middlesex County, New Jersey. He and Elsje Schilman removed to the "Valley of 
the Raritan" between 1710 and 1715 in Somerset County, New York. He "In the list of Families 
of the First Reformed Church (N. Brunswick) from 1732 to 1735," says Rev. P. T. Pockman, 
pastor 1898, between 1732 and 1735.  
 
Children: 
 
1. Adrian Aten born 1695 in Brooklyn, New York, died January 18, 1759 in Readington, 

Hunterdon County, New Jersey, married Jacobje Middaugh. 
2. Thomas Aten born 1699 in Brooklyn, New York, died August 20, 1784 in Raritan, 

Hunterdon, New Jersey, married Hilletje Van Arsdalen and Seyte. 
3. Jan Aten Jr. born 1701 in Brooklyn, New York, died 1721 in Limburg, Netherlands, 

married Lybetje Sutiphen. 
4. Jannetje Aten born April 18, 1704 in Brooklyn, New York, died Somerville, Somerset, 

New Jersey, married Frans Jacob Lucas. 
5. Martien Aten born May 17, 1715 in Brooklyn, New York 
 
http://worldconnect.rootsweb.ancestry.com/cgi-bin/igm.cgi?op=AHN&db=dkries&id=I01137 
 

Epaphras Lord and Lucy Bulkeley 
 
Epaphras Lord and Ichabod Lord, of Marlborough, were sons of Richard Lord, 3d, of 
Hartford, and Abigail Warren, daughter of William Warren. Her mother, Elizabeth, was the 
daughter of John Crow, who married Elizabeth, only child of Eider William Goodwin. Mr. Crow 
was the largest landholder in Hartford. Eider William Goodwin was prominent in the early days, 
was one of the original purchasers of Hartford, a ruling elder in the Rev. Mr. Hooker's church, 
and afterward in the church at Hadley. He died in 1673, in Farmington, leaving his estate to his 
daughter. Mr. Crow was in 1659, next to Mr. Welles, the wealthiest man in East Hartford. On the 
death of William Warren, in 1689, Mrs. Warren married Phineas Wilson, a wealthy merchant 
from Dublin, and on his death continued her husband's business, and became the most extensive 
banker in the State. Richard Lord died in 1712 aged forty-three, leaving a large estate. Four of 
his five sons lived to grow up, and were graduated from Yale, the two youngest, Epaphras and 
Ichabod, in 1729. Their mother married for her second husband the Rev. Timothy Woodbridge, 
and died very aged, in 1753. She gave the church in Marlborough a communion-service, which 
was sold in after years and replaced by a plated set, to the scandal of the town. Epaphras Lord, 
born 1709, married Hope, daughter of Captain George Phillips, of Middletown, and had three 
children. Upon her death he married (1799) Lucy Bulkeley, daughter of the Rev. John 
Bulkeley, of Colchester, who had fifteen children. He represented Colchester in the legislature 
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from 1743 to 1745. Ichabod Lord, born in 1712, married Patience Prentice Bulkley, daughter of 
the Rev. John Bulkeley, minister in Colchester, 1703; granddaughter of the Rev. Gershom 
Bulkeley, of Wethersfield, and great granddaughter of Rev. Peter Bulkeley, of Bedfordshire, 
England. Brothers Epaphras and Icabod married sisters Lucy and Patience Bulkeley. The son 
Elisha Lord married Eunice Bulkeley. 
 
Mr. Lord died in 1762, leaving seven daughters. His widow married the Rev. Mr. Eells, and 
removed to Middletown. After his death she returned to Marlborough, where she died July 8, 
1794, aged eighty-four. Her daughter, Elizabeth Lord, married John Fells. Epaphras and Ichabod 
Lord came down from Hartford and purchased a large tract of land in Chatham and Colchester. 
 
Between 1743 and 1754 Epaphras represented Colchester in the General Assembly in six 
sessions 
 
1747 Epaphras headed a list of petitioners for erection of new parish in northwestern part of town 
called Marlborough Parish 
 
Occupation Probably a Lawyer; Justice of the Peace for Hartford County from 1751-1757 
inclusive and from 1760-1779 inclusive 
 
Residence resided first at Wethersfield and then for a short time at Hartford 
 
Will dated December 26, 1793. 
 
Education 1729 graduated Yale with an M.A. 
 
Children of Epaphras Lord and Lucy Bulkeley are: 
 
1. Epaphras Lord, born December 22, 1743 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died May 

6, 1819 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut; married Patience Bulkeley; born February 7 
1745 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died February 25, 1836 in Marlborough, 
Hartford, Connecticut.  

2. Elisha Lord, born March 18, 1744 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died April 13, 
1819 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut; married Eunice Bulkeley; born May 14, 1747 
in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died May 2, 1796 in Colcester, New London, 
Connecticut.  

3. Dorothy Lord, born April 29, 1746 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died May 26, 
1752 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut.  

4. Theodore Lord, born May 18, 1747 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died February 
11, 1845 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut; married Sarah Buell; born 1749; died 26 
January 1834 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut.  

5. Lucy Lord, born August 26, 1748 in Hebron, Tolland, Connecticut; died March 28, 1824 in 
Hebron, Tolland, Connecticut; married Solomon Phelps; born October 3, 1743 in Hebron, 
Tolland, Connecticut; died August 25, 1817 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut.  

6. Jerusha Lord, born November 7, 1749 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died May 
17, 1836 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut; married David Deacon Skinner; born  
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December 22, 1743 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died February 3, 1813 in 
Genesee, New York.  

7. Bulkeley Lord, born January 15, 1750 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died January 
25, 1750 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut.  

8. Dorothy Lord, born September 16, 1753 in Colchester, New London, Connecticut; died 
April 14, 1839 in Owego, Tioga, New York; married Elizur Talcott September 15, 1774 in 
Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut.   

9. John Bulkeley Lord, born November 5, 1754 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died 
January 28, 1815 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut; married Mary Buell; born 1756; 
died March 31, 1836 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut.  

10. Eunice Lord, born July 26, 1756 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died March 1, 
1787; married Nathan Cogswell; born 22 April1744 in Southington, Connecticut; died 
March 29, 1822.  

11. Caroline Lord, born March 2, 1758 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died December 
20, 1819 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; married Bethuel Phelps March 13, 1778 
in Hebron, Tolland, Connecticut; born April 25, 1744 in Hebron, Tolland, Connecticut; died 
August 11, 1832 in Windsor, Connecticut.  

12. Lydia Lord, born November 4, 1759 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; married 
Ashbel Chapman November 17, 1789 in Hebron, Tolland, Connecticut; born June 28, 1775; 
died October 26, 1822 in Tolland, Connecticut.  

13. Abigail Lord, born January 3, 1761 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died August 
30, 1845 in Wareham, Plymouth, Massachusetts; married Noble Everett; born March 3,  
1746 in Woodbury, Connecticut; died December 30, 1819 in Wareham, Plymouth, 
Massachusetts.  

14. Ichabod Lord, born June 12, 1762 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died February 
11, 1840 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut. Married Lucy Bulkeley. 
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Generation 6 
 

Frans Jacob Lucas and Jannetje Aten 
 
Frans Jacob Lucas was born December 3, 1697 in Rhineland-Pfalz, Germany and died October 
25, 1752 in Somerville, Somerset County, New Jersey. Jannetje Aten was born April 18, 1704 
in Brooklyn, Kings, New York and died in Somerville, Somerset County, New Jersey. They 
were married February 20, 1723 in New Rochelle, Westchester, New York. Frans Jacob Lucas 
and Jannetje Aten are rumored to be German refugees for religious reasons. Jannetje is the Dutch 
name for Janet. It is pronounced YON-eh-chuh. The -tje and -tie endings for female names are 
both pronounced the same, which is why it often seems that both used for the same woman. They 
are pronounced "chuh". She was a member of the Reformed Dutch Church of Brooklyn, New 
York. Children: 
 
1. Mary (Maria) Lucas born January 11, 1722 in Somerville, Somerset County, New Jersey – 

died May 13, 1740 in Bound Brook, Somerset, New Jersey – married Isaiah Younglove. 
2. Aaron(Twin) Lucas born August 29, 1725 in Raritan, Somerset County New Jersey – died 

Sussex, New Jersey. 
3. Eische (Twin) Lucas born August 29, 1725 in Raritan, Somerset County New Jersey  
4. Franz Jacob Jr. Lucas born September 17, 1727 in Raritan, Somerset County New Jersey – 

died in New Jersey. 
5. Thomas Lucas born December 6, 1730 in Raritan, Somerset County New Jersey – died 

November 1823 in Lebanon, Warren Co, Ohio  - married Sarah Rhoda Medford. 
6. Elizabeth Lucas born August 25, 1733 in Raritan, Somerset County New Jersey – died the 

same day. 
7. Abraham Lucas born February 16, 1734 in Raritan, Somerset County New Jersey – married 

Sarah. 
8. Elsye Lucas born December 4, 1737 in Raritan, Somerset County New Jersey – died the 

same day. 
9. Hilletje Lucas born September 2, 1744 in Readington County, New Jersey  
10. Hilletje Lucas born May 3, 1747 in Hunterdon County, New Jersey  
11. Femmetje Lucas born May 8, 1748 in Readington County, New Jersey – died 1749. 
 
It is not clear whether there are two Hilletjes or just inconsistent reports of birthdays. 
 
Frantz Lucas of La Rochelle, France came to New York with Johannes Laurents in 1710. He is 
found at New Rochelle, New York the same year with five children. His son Francis was a 
witness to a baptism in Somerville in 1719. 
 
http://www.lucasco.info/upload/EddieLucasFamily/lucastree.htm 
 
He enlisted at Glastonbury, Connecticut. Elizur Talcott was confirmed Quarter-Master of the 
Troop of Horse in the 6th Regiment in October of 1740 and worked his way up to Major by May 
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of 1756. He finally ended up as Colonel in October of 1774 but resigned in November of 1776. 
He owned land in Glastonbury. 
 

Elizur Talcott and Dorothy Lord 
 
Elizur Talcott, born December 17, 1750 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died November 
28, 1831 in Owego, Tioga, New York. He was the son of Elizur Talcott and Ruth Wright. He 
married  Dorothy Lord September 15, 1774 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut. Dorothy 
Lord, born September 16, 1753 in Colchester, New London, Connecticut; died April 14, 1839 in 
Owego, Tioga, New York. She was the daughter of Epaphras Lord and Lucy Bulkeley. 
Children of Elizur Talcott and Dorothy Lord are: 
 
1. Lucy Talcott, born November 2, 1775 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died  

September 27, 1777 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut.  
2. Lucy Talcott, born December 26, 1777 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died 

October 29, 1858, married George Burton. 
3. Elizur Talcott, born February 1, 1780 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died January 

27, 1868 in Owego, Tioga, New York; married Elizabeth Bliss; born March 17, 1782 in 
Hebron, Tolland, Connecticut; died January 15, 1848.  

4. Prudence Talcott, born November 4, 1781 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died  
June 15, 1836 in Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut; married David Miller Lord; born  
June 25, 1773 in Colcester, New London, Connecticut; died January 28, 1846 in 
Marlborough, Hartford, Connecticut.  

5. George Lord Talcott, born January 3, 1784 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died  
November 30, 1873 in Owego, Tioga, New York; married Sarah McQuigg; born August 
14, 1785 in Litchenfield, Hillsborough, New Hampshire; died January 15, 1842 in Owego, 
Tioga, New York.  

6. Hope Talcott, born May 10, 1785 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died February 
13, 1865 in Owego, Tioga, New York; married Erastus Goodrich February 27, 1812 in 
Owego, Tioga, New York, USA.  

7. Dorothy Talcott, born April 23, 1789 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died April 17, 
1856; married Jesse Truesdell; died March 9, 1865.  

8. Solomon Talcott, born August 10, 1790 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died  
November 18, 1795 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut.  

9. Charles Talcott, born March 11, 1795 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died October 
28, 1861 in Owego, Tioga, New York.  

 
 
Elizur Talcott, came with his sons, George Lord Talcott, then aged 18 years, and Elizur Talcott, 
Jr., aged 22 years. In 1802 they moved to Elmira, where they were employed in building a 
dwelling house. The next year they came to Owego. In 1803, he purchased of Jared Goodrich of 
Glastenbury, Connecticut, two pieces of land in Owego, one containing fifty acres and the other 
67 acres. The western boundary of this land was the Owego creek. The eastern boundary was a 
line which passed diagonally across North Avenue and ran about parallel with McMaster Street. 
The south boundary was a little below Fox street and the north boundary was near where George 
street now runs. Mr. Talcott sold the northern part of this farm to his son, George Lord Talcott. 
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Elizur Talcott lived in a large frame house, which stood on the east side of McMaster Street, 
midway between Fox street and the Erie railroad. It was similar to all the large farm houses of 
that time, with a wide hall extending from front to rear in the middle. George Lord Talcott's 
house was at the southeast corner of Talcott Street and the Lehigh Valley railroad. It was 
occupied after his death by his son, George Talcott, and after George Talcott's death it became 
the property of William H. Thomas, who reconstructed it and lives in it now. The Talcotts were 
farmers all their lives. The land they purchased had been partly cleared by the Indians, but most 
of the land from the Owego Creek east was at that time a forest wilderness of lofty pines, 
gigantic oaks, and a dense undergrowth of bushes. Elizur Talcott took little part in public affairs, 
but in April, 1825, when the legislature passed an act constituting a commission to build a county 
clerk's office in Owego, he was appointed one of the commissioners. Mr. Talcott died November 
28, 1831. His wife, Dorothy (Lord) Talcott died April 14, 1839, aged 86 years. 
 
http://www.archive.org/stream/owegosomeaccount00king/owegosomeaccount00king_djvu.txt 
 

Generation 7 
 

Thomas Lucas and Sarah Rhoda Medford 
 
Thomas Lucas was born December 6, 1730 in Raritan, New Jersey and died in November 1823 
in Lebanon, Warren County, Ohio. He was known as Tommy. Thomas Lucas came from New 
Jersey to western Pennsylvania, later moving together with a large group of extended family 
members, to Kentucky and later on to Greene/Clinton County, Ohio. Thomas' parents were 
Frans Lucas and Jannete Aten. Thomas Lucas married Sarah Rhoda Medford (not Sarah 
Hoblit wife of grandson Thomas Lucas). She was born in February of 1734 in Morris, New 
Jersey and died in 1825 in Warren County, Ohio. Thomas' wife full name was Sarah Rhoda 
Medford. It was difficult to find because Lucas was misspelled as Lukis on the marriage record. 
Thomas and Sarah were the parents of nine children: 
 
1. Abraham Lucas born 1761 in Morris County, New Jersey – died July 22, 1841 in Mt. 

Pulaski, Logan, Illinois – married Marcy Kelsey. 
2. Sarah Lucas born about 1766 in Morris County, New Jersey – died May 5, 1934 in 

Warren County, Ohio – married Daniel Ulrey 
3. Rhoda Lucas December 10, 1768 in Morris County, New Jersey – died May 22, 1854 in 

Warren County, Ohio – married Jabish Phillips. 
4. John Lucas born August 24, 1769  in Morris County, New Jersey – died July 6, 1851 in 

Green County, Ohio – married Frances Raines 
5. Ebonezer Lucas born 1770 in Washington, Pennsylvania – died September 12, 1849 in 

Auglaize, Ohio – married Heather Wood. 
6. Thomas Lucas born 1774 in Washington, Pennsylvania – died 1790 in Maumee River, 

Ohio. 
7. Caleb Lucas born October 2, 1776 in Washington, Pennsylvania – died April 25, 1851 in 

Clinton, Ohio – married Anna Maria Price. 
8. Masse Lucas born 1780 – died after 1820. 
9. Francis Lucas born March 22, 1782 in Bracken County, Kentucky – died May 11, 1846 in 

Deerfield, Warren County, Ohio – married Christina Keever. 



23 
 

 
The son of Jabish Phillips and Rhoda Lucas (Isreal Phillips) married the daughter of Daniel 
Ulrey and Sarah Lucas (Elizabeth Lucas) – cousins. 
 
http://www.lucasco.info/upload/EddieLucasFamily/lucastree.htm 
 
http://wc.rootsweb.ancestry.com/cgi-bin/igm.cgi?op=AHN&db=tedpack&id=I342 
 
 

Erastus Goodrich and Hope Talcott 
 
Erastus Goodrich, born June 15, 1788 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died July 27, 
1854 in Buffalo, Erie, New York. He was the son of Noah Goodrich and Prudence Goodrich. 
He married Hope Talcott February 27, 1812 in Owego, Tioga, New York, USA. Hope Talcott, 
born May 10, 1785 in Glastonbury, Hartford, Connecticut; died February 13, 1865 in Owego, 
Tioga, New York. She was the daughter of Elizur Talcott and Dorothy Lord. He worked from 
1837 to 1848 as a silversmith in Buffalo NY. 
 
Children of Erastus Goodrich and Hope Talcott are: 
 

1. David Goodrich, born January 3, 1813 in Owego, Tioga, New York; died 1880 in 
Owego, Tioga, New York; married Frances Truman 1842. 

2. Prudence Goodrich, born July 22, 1814 in Owego, Tioga, New York; died 1880; married 
Daniel G Taylor.  

3. George Benton Goodrich, born December 1, 1816 in Owego, Tioga, New York; died 
1880; married Sarah C. Talcott; born March 6, 1816 in Owego, Tioga, New York.  

4. Eunice A Goodrich, born August 20, 1818 in Owego, Tioga, New York; died October 6, 
1897 in Owego, Tioga, New York; married George Truman; born June 16, 1816 in 
Owego, Tioga, New York; died February 14, 1909 in Owego, Tioga, New York.  

5. Edwin Goodrich, born October 12, 1820 in Tioga, New York, USA; died 1880; married 
Calphurnia Mersereau September 18, 1844.  

6. Erastus Goodrich, born February 25, 1823 in Tioga, New York, USA; died April 13, 
1894; married (1) Nancy Ann Taylor; married (2) Phebe Dodge. He worked from circa 
1845 to 1855 as a jeweler and watchmaker in Buffalo NY.  

7. Susan Elizabeth Goodrich, born June 9, 1826; died 1880. 
8. Lucy Benton Goodrich, born July 15, 1830 in Tioga, Tioga, New York; died 1903 in 

Owego, Tioga, New York; married Thomas Ives Chatfield; born September 16, 1818. 
 
In the early history of the region Erastus Goodrich, who was the son of pioneer Judge Noah 
Goodrich, was a farmer, brickmaker, distiller, lumberman, and rafts man. He was a successful 
operator and an influential man in the town. His children were David, Prudence, who married 
Gilbert Taylor and is now dead; George B., now dead; Eunice Ann, who married with George 
Truman, of Owego ; Edwin, now dead ; Erastus, who died in Illinois; Susan, who married with 
John Williams, of Seneca county, and Lucy, widow of the late Thomas I. Chatfield.  
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He was supervisor of the town of Tioga in 1828, 1841, and 1843, and represented Tioga county 
in the assembly in 1848. He was the father of George B. and David Goodrich, both of whom 
were Owego merchants. Three of his sons-in-law, Daniel G. Taylor, George Truman, and 
Thomas I. Chatfield, were also merchants there. He died June 29, 1854 at Buffalo, while on his 
return from a visit to his son, Erastus, at DeKalb, Illinois.  
 
http://tcpl.org/local-history/documents/county-history-
CNY/Our_Tioga/Our_Tioga_p500to558.pdf 
 
"The Goodrich Family in America" by Lafayette Wallace Case, M.D., 
 

Generation 8  
 

Daniel Ulrey and Sarah Lucas 
 
Daniel Ulrey was born about 1766 in Bedford County, Pennsylvania to Stephen Ulrey and 
Susanna Rench. He died June 3, 1823 in Turtle Creek, Warren County, Ohio. Sarah Lucas was 
born about 1766 in Pennsylvania to Thomas Lucas and Sarah Rhoda Medford and died May 
5, 1834 in Warren County, Ohio. Daniel and Sarah were married about 1790 in Washington 
County, Ohio. Daniel and Sarah had eleven children: 
 
1. John Ulrey – born 1790 in Warren County, Ohio – died November 15, 1844 in Sugar Creek 

Twp, Shelby, Indiana – married Jane Drake 
2. David Ulrey – born 1792 Warren County, Ohio – died July, 9 1879 in Rising Sun, Ohio – 

married Phebe Post. 
3. Susanna Ulrey – born April 13, 1796 in Warren County, Ohio, died July 27, 1861. She 

married James Montfort and Jesse Cousins. 
4. Rhoda Ulrey – born 1795 in Warren County, Ohio died 1847 in Shelby County, Indiana. 

She married Daniel Babb. 
5. Sarah Ulrey – born December 20, 1792 (Web 1799) in Warrensberg Kentucky married 

James Adrian Hutchinson 
6. Jacob Ulrey – born 1800 in Warren County, Ohio died 1839 in Shelby County, Indiana. 

Married Phoebe Pope and Polly Shaver. 
7. Margaret (Peggy) Ulrey – born 1802, died 1833 both in Warren County, Ohio. Married 

John Pope. 
8. Elizabeth (Betsy) Ulrey – born 1803, died 1880 both in Warren County, Ohio. She married 

Israel Phillips and Lewis Passon. 
9. Isaac Ulrey – born 1804 in Warren County, Ohio, married Rebecca Foster. 
10. Daniel Ulrey Jr. – born 1808 Warren County, Ohio 
11. William Simeon Ulrey – born 1812, died 1860 both in Warren County, Ohio. He married 

Margaret Hays. 
 
The children were all born in Warren County, Ohio. They lived in Warren, Ohio and 
Montgomery, Ohio. Daniel’s estate records show that he was a member of the Dunkard Church.  
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Daniel Ulrey/Ullrey and Sarah Lucas had a daughter Susanna Ullery who first married a James 
Monfort and then a Jesse Cousins. James Monfort and Susanna Ullery had a daughter Mary E. 
Monfort. 
 
Mary Monfort married George Lucas, a nephew of Sarah Lucas - Mary's 1st cousin, once 
removed. 
 
The Ullery/Lucas connection was discovered in 1994 when a court case was found. Sarah 
(Lucas) Ullery was suing her brother Francis Lucas regarding their father's estate. (Francis is 
George's father.) Susanna Cousins had to give a deposition in the case in 1834. 
 
Dr. Vallentine, a Lucas researcher, believes that Daniel's father was a Stephen Ulery. 
 
Elizabeth Ulery (1802-1866) married Lewis Passon in Warren County, Ohio 1820. She is buried 
in Berne, Adams County, Indiana as Elizabeth Passon, living with her youngest son at her death. 
 
In the original warrant of which the Ulrey tract was a part, it is called the "Mill Seat Tract," and 
was granted to Edward Sanders under date of December 22, 1766, and was sold by Edward 
Sanders March 16, 1780, to Daniel Ullery and the warrant says that Daniel Ullery by will dated 
January 2, 1781, devised the same to his son, John Ullery, and John Ullery entered his 
acceptance of the land under date of July 24, 1795.  This warrant was issued by Thomas Mifflin, 
governor, and attested by James Trimble, deputy secretary.  This land according to the warrant, 
as issued to Edward Sanders, was situated in Bedford Township, Bedford  County.  It appeared 
to be in possession of the Ullery family from 1780 to 1821.  Under date of March 22, 1821, John 
Ullery conveyed this land with a larger adjoining tract amounting to three hundred and eighty-
eight acres, to George B. Spang and the location is given as Woodbury Township, Bedford 
County.  This purchase took in the "Mill Seat Tract," the Spang mansion farm, the Eli Lower and 
the Samuel Garver heir's properties.   
 
After taking possession of the property Henry C. Nicodemus made a survey of it which was 
made March 3, 1864.  According to this survey it contained eighty-nine acres and twenty-three 
perches of which Isaac Bowers subsequently bought forty-two acres and the paper mill company 
nine acres, the balance of it being taken up by the grist mill and stream and by some building lots 
reserved.  The line fence between the Job Mann property and the Spang farm began at the mill 
race where it is now crossed by Girard street and continued the same bearing as the street now 
has for one hundred and four rods to a post, thence by a little change in the bearing forty-four 
rods more to the land of Eli Lower. The land lying between this line and the Duncan lands 
comprise this purchase 
 
                        THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA. 
 
TO ALL TO WHOM THESE PRESENTS SHALL COME, GREETING.  KNOW YE, That in 
consideration of the sum of thirty pounds, twelve shillings and six pence lawful money now paid 
by John Ulrey into the Receiver-General's Office of this Commonwealth. . . . .there is granted by 
the said Commonwealth unto the said JOHN ULREY a certain tract of land called "THE MILL 
SEAT". . .situated in BEDFORD TOWNSHIP, BEDFORD COUNTY, BEGINNING AT a 
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white oak thence by one Lindsay's land north fourteen degrees east one hundred and nine perches 
to a rees west sixty perches to a sugar tree north forty degrees east ninety-four perches to a white 
oak south seventy degrees east sixty-six perches to a post by a hickory south fifteen degrees east 
two hundred and fourteen perches to a large white oak and west one hundred and seventy-four 
perches to the beginning containing one hundred and sixty-nine acres and an allowance of 6% 
for roads, etc., which said tract was surveyed in pursuance of an application No. 2218 dated 22nd 
of December, 1766, granted to Edward Sanders who by deed dated 16th March, 1780, conveyed 
the same to Daniel Ulrey who by will dated 2nd Jan'y, 1781, devised the same to his son the said 
John Ulrey for whom a warrant of acceptance issued 24th July, 1795. 
 
TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the said tract or parcel of land, with the appurtenances,  
unto the said JOHN ULREYand his heirs to the use of him the said JOHN ULREY  
his heirs and assigns, forever free and clear of all restrictions and reservations as to mines, 
royalties, quit-rents or otherwise excepting and reserving only the fifth part of all gold and silver 
ore for the use of this commonwealth to be delivered at the pitt's mouth clear of all charges.  IN 
WITNESS whereof THOMAS MIFFLIN, governor of the said commonwealth hath hereto set 
his hand and caused the State Seal to be hereunto affixed the twenty-eighth day of July in the 
year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and ninety-five and the commonwealth the 
TWENTIETH. 
 
 Attest, James Trimble, deputy Sec'y.  Patent, John Ullery, 169 As. land, Bedford County. 
 Enrolled in the Rolle Office for the State of Pennsylvania, in Pat. Book No.  25, page 407. 
Witnesseth my hand and seal of office, the 28th day of July, 1795. Matthew Irwin,                                                  
From - Looking Eighty Years Backward and A History of Roaring Spring, Pennsylvania by  D. 
M. Bare, College Press Findley, Ohio, 1920. 
 
Three Ulrey brothers emigrated from Germany in the early part of 1700, and settled east of the 
mountains in Pennsylvania. One of them had three sons who lived in Washington County, 
Pennsylvania. Their names were Stephen, Daniel, and John. Stephen died in 1820. His children's 
names were: David, Stephen, Simon, Jacob, Henry, and Eli. Daniel moved to Miami County, 
Ohio, in an early day. He had a large family. John Ulrey married a German woman by the name 
of Elizabeth Arnold. John farmed. He built a stone house which still stands. Many descendants 
are yet living in Clermont county and other parts of Ohio.  
 
Note Thomas Lucas appears twice in tree so that George Lucas married the daughter of his 
cousin Sarah Ulrey.  
 
There is another family connection. Daniel Ulrey and Sarah Lucas had a daughter Elizabeth who 
married her cousin Israel Phillips the son of Jabash Phillips and Rhoda Lucas. Rhoda Lucas is 
the daughter of Thomas Lucas and Sarah Medford. 
 

David Goodrich and Frances A. Truman 
 
David Goodrich, born January 3, 1813 in Owego, Tioga, New York; died 1880 in Owego, 
Tioga, New York. He was the son of Erastus Goodrich and Hope Talcott. He married Frances 
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Truman 1842. Frances Truman, born June 18, 1820 in Owego, Tioga, New York; died 1894 in 
Owego, Tioga, NewYork. She was the daughter of Aaron Truman and Experience Parks. 
 
David Goodrich began work when eight years old as a farmer's boy, but before he was fifteen he 
had taught school three months. In 1830 he began working for John Hollenback, an Owego 
merchant, and in two years had saved $140. He then went on the river and for years run arks, 
rafts and lumber to market, doing a successful business. He then went to work for Lyman 
Truman Sc Brothers and afterward became interested with the firm in their extensive operations. 
He and George Truman engaged in the dry goods business, and in July, 1841, he married Mrs. 
Truman's sister, Frances A. Truman. From 1861 to 1872 he was in the mercantile business with 
various partners. Later he engaged in farming. Mr. Goodrich died in Owego, July 3, 1896. In 
business life he was an earnest, honest and capable man, therefore he was successful. His wife 
was Frances A. Truman, with whom he was married July 13, 1841. Mrs. Goodrich died January 
10, 1892. Their children were Mary E., wife of W. D. Cady, Binghamton; Charles T., of Kasson, 
Minn., and Lyman T. Goodrich, of Owego, N. Y. 
 
Children of David Goodrich and Frances Truman are: 
 
1. Mary Goodrich, born 1842 in Owego, Tioga, New York. 
2. Lyman S Goodrich, born July 1849 in Owego Village, Tioga, New York; died 1920 in 

Owego Village, Tioga, New York; married Cynthia M Cornell. 
3. Charles Goodrich, born 12 October 1846 in Owego, Tioga, New York; died 19 July 1931 

in Dodge County, Minnesota; married Sarah M Crouch; born 03 May 1852 in New York; 
died 10 December1875 in Dodge County, Minnesota. 

 
David and Francis Goodrich are in the 1850 census for Owego, New York. Next door lived 
Francis’ cousin Betsey Dean Truman with her son William Henry Truman (1842-1895). Betsey’s 
brother Edward D. Truman lived nearby with his wife Eleanor M. Soule and their children 
Frederick and Augustus. 
 
http://tcpl.org/local-history/documents/county-history-
CNY/Our_Tioga/Our_Tioga_p281to353.pdf  
 
http://www.ebooksread.com/authors-eng/leroy-wilson-kingman/owego-some-account-of-the-
early-settlement-of-the-village-in-tioga-county-ny-gni/page-16-owego-some-account-of-the-
early-settlement-of-the-village-in-tioga-county-ny-gni.shtml 
 

Generation 9 
 

James Adrian Hutchinson and Sarah Ulrey 
 
James Adrian Hutchinson was born in Pennsylvania in 1784. He was the last of five children 
of Joseph Hutchinson and Keziah Riffett. He was a steamboat trader. He died in 1824 near 
Warren County, Ohio, by drowning in the Ohio River. Sarah Ulrey was born December 20, 
1792 in Warrensberg, Kentucky. She was the eighth of nine children of Daniel Ulrey and Sarah 
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Lucas Ulrey. James and Sarah were married March 21, 1816 in Warren County, Ohio. James 
and Sarah had three children: 
 
1. Keziah – born March 27, 1818 in Warren County, Ohio, died March 31, 1937 in Shelby 

County, Indiana and  married Jonathan H. Kieth  
2. Joseph – born 1822 in Warren County, Ohio, died 1889 and married Rhoda Bessie Violet.. 
3. Daniel Ulrey Hutchinson – born April 25, 1825 in Warren County, Ohio, died July 16, 

1893 in Argonia, Kansas and married Nancy Jane Fitzpatrick. 
 
Sarah was remarried to a man named Sleeth on April 24, 1836 in Shelby County, Indiana. 
 
http://trees.ancestry.com/tree/14055869/person/48551615?ssrc= 
 
http://trees.ancestry.com/tree/21596382/person/1109325508?ssrc= 
 

Lyman Truman Goodrich and Cynthia M Cornell 
 
Lyman Truman Goodrich, born July 13, 1849 in Owego Village, Tioga, New York; died 1920 
in Owego Village, Tioga, New York. He was the son of David Goodrich and Frances Truman. 
He married Cynthia M Cornell August 11, 1869. Cynthia M Cornell, born February 1853 in 
Owego Village, Tioga, New York; died in 1900 in Owego, Tioga, New York. She was the 
daughter of saloon keeper Harmon W. Cornell. Children of Lyman Goodrich and Cynthia 
Cornell are: 
 
1. Dora Goodrich, born 1875. 
2. Rena Goodrich, born January 1881 in New York.  
3. Clarence L. Goodrich, born July 1885 in New York; married Marian P. Rightmire 1913. 
4. Marian A. Goodrich, born September 27, 1888 in Owego, Tioga, New York; died 

November 23, 1973 in Cortland, New York; married C. Leonard O'Connor and Frederich 
Rouse Wickwire. 
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